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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr I Purvis

	Scheme
	:
	ALSTOM Pension Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondent
	:
	ALSTOM Pension Trust Limited, as Trustee of ALSTOM Pension Scheme (the Trustee)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION
1. Mr Purvis has complained that the Trustee of the Scheme unreasonably refused his application for early retirement on the grounds of ill health, basing their decision on the report of one consultant who had never met Mr Purvis and despite there being considerable evidence supporting his application.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

RELEVANT SCHEME RULES

3. Rule 3 of the Scheme Rules provides the definition of Incapacity as,
““Incapacity” means any physical or mental deterioration which in the opinion of the Principal Company and of the Trustees and supported by suitable medical evidence prevents a Member from following employment or which seriously impairs his earning capacity.”
4. Rule 13 of the Scheme Rules provides,
“BENEFITS ON EARLY RETIREMENT

13.1 On giving six months’ notice to the Trustees a Member may retire on pension at any time after attainment of age 55.

13.2 With the consent of the Principal Company a Member may retire on pension at any time after attainment of age 50.

13.3 With the consent of the Principal Company and the Trustees a Member may retire on pension at any age if retirement is due to Incapacity.

13.4 The pension payable to a Member who retires before Normal Retirement Date shall be calculated in the same way as Normal Retirement Pension (except that if retirement is due to Incapacity the Member’s Pensionable Service shall be deemed to include the period between the date of his retirement and his Normal Retirement Date) reduced (except in the case of Incapacity) as the Trustees on the advice of the Actuary may determine.

13.5 The Trustees may at their discretion vary or suspend any pension payable under Rule 13.4 after retirement due to Incapacity if they consider that the Member’s Incapacity has ceased or has reduced effect on him; PROVIDED that the Member’s pension payable from his Normal Retirement Date shall not be less than Normal Retirement Pension (calculated on the basis that his Pensionable Service does not include the period between the date of his retirement and his Normal Retirement Date).”
MATERIAL FACTS

5. Mr Purvis was born on 9 December 1947.  He worked for ALSTOM T & D Power Conversion Limited (the employer) and became a member of the Cegelec UK Pension Scheme from 1 May 1997 (the Cegelec Scheme).  At the time of the events with which I am concerned his job title was that of Project Engineer with a salary of £22,674 per annum.
6. By a merger agreement dated 17 May 2000, the Cegelec Scheme was closed to new entrants, the accrual of benefits ceased, and there were no further provisions of death in service benefits with effect from 6 April 2000.  The ALSTOM Pension Scheme (the Scheme) was then set up and all members of the Cegelec Scheme were transferred into a Contracted-out Section of the Scheme, with effect from 6 April 2000.  Former members of the Cegelec Scheme were provided with the same benefits to which they were previously entitled under the Cegelec Scheme.

7. Applications for ill health early retirement are considered by the Trustee’s Benefits Committee, a sub-committee of the Trustee comprising of two members of the Trustee’s Board to which power had been delegated to determine whether a member qualified for incapacity pension under the Scheme Rules.

8. Mr Purvis applied to the Scheme for ill health early retirement on 19 March 2003 and stated that his expected leaving date was 30 April 2003.  He saw a number of medical advisers.  Relevant extracts of the medical reports provided are at Appendix 1.
9. On 30 April 2003, Alstom ceased making available to the Scheme the additional funding needed to allow for early retirement pensions to be paid without deduction. 

10. On 19 May 2003, the Trustee decided to apply cost neutral early retirement factors with effect from 1 May 2003 which meant that members were no longer able to take early retirement on the old more generous factors.  Active members of the Scheme were advised that there would be a transition period for members retiring directly from service between 1 May 2003 and 31 July 2003 during which time pensions would continue to be calculated using the old early retirement reduction.

11. On 25 June 2003, the Pensions Administration Manager sent a memorandum to the Trustees Benefits Committee, stating,
“We have been informed that Mr Purvis is suffering from anxiety and stress as his wife has cancer and he is currently caring for her.

As you can see from Dr Fyan’s letter, he states that Mr Purvis’ incapacity is unlikely to be enduring and permanent and that he may be able to work in the future.  I have also enclosed a report from Dr Allbright’s and although she suggests that Mr Purvis be given total incapacity to be reviewed after his wife’s death she has also stated that Mr Purvis will more than likely be able to seek employment once he has recovered from his bereavement.

As Mr Purvis is likely to be able to work again in the future and should recover from his anxiety and stress, this application should be rejected on this occasion.”

12. On 7 July 2003, Mr Purvis wrote to the Trustee and advised that if his application for ill health early retirement failed, the Trustee should proceed with his application for normal early retirement.  He asked that the Trustee ensured that one or the other of his applications was completed before the company’s deadline of 31 July 2003.
13. The members of the Benefits Committee decided to reject Mr Purvis’ application for ill health early retirement; their responses to that effect were received by the Trustee on 8 and 9 July 2003.  Mr Purvis was advised by telephone on 11 July 2003 and then by letter on 14 July 2003 which stated that the medical evidence presented to the Trustee did not support his application which had therefore been rejected.  The letter said that should Mr Purvis’ condition deteriorate or should he wish to bring other factors to attention, the Trustee might reconsider the application.  The Trustee also confirmed that it would be proceeding with his early retirement on normal terms but using the old early retirement factors as his retirement date would be 31 July 2003.

14. Mr Purvis had meanwhile written to the Trustee after receiving the decision on 11 July 2003 to say that he was very shocked and disappointed to hear that his application for ill health early retirement had been turned down.  He said that he felt it was not the correct decision as he felt too ill and was incapable of coping adequately in a work environment.  Mr Purvis asked the Trustee to reconsider the decision.

15. At the same time Mr Purvis had written to the employer to ask for his early retirement to occur on 31 July 2003 and saying that he understood that doing so would not prejudice his subsequent appeal against the Trustee’s rejection of his application for ill health early retirement pension.  
16. On 17 July 2003, the Secretary responded to Mr Purvis’ letter of 11 July 2003, saying that the Trustee had come to its decision about ill health retirement on the basis of medical evidence from the its own appointed doctor and by taking into account the Scheme documentation, which included a degree of permanence of a condition and longer term earning capacity.  She said that an appeal would be considered if Mr Purvis could provide any additional information on his illness and level of incapacity or if there was deterioration in his condition.  

17. Mr Purvis left his employment on 31 July 2003 and began to receive an early retirement pension.

18. On 10 October 2003, Mr Purvis wrote to the Secretary and said that he was disappointed to hear that his appeal had not been discussed at the Trustee’s meeting despite a previous assurance.  He said that he had been referred to the Secretary’s letter of 17 July 2003 which appeared to say that the Trustee would only reconsider its verdict if there was to be a change in his condition.  Mr Purvis said that the stress imposed on him by his wife’s continuing treatment, would could continue for a very long time, would render it impossible for him to take on any type of employment and that it was unlikely to change for the better for the foreseeable future.

19. The Secretary’s response to Mr Purvis on 21 October 2003 included details of the Scheme’s Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP) and also stated,

“My letter of 17 July 2003 was intended to indicate that on the medical evidence received to date and the application of the Scheme’s rules, your request had been refused, and an appeal could therefore only be considered if there was new medical evidence.

The Rules of the Cegelec Section of the Scheme provide that on ill-health, a pension can be paid at any age if retirement is due to “incapacity”.  The Trustee and the Company’s opinion is used to determine if the incapacity prevents a member from following employment or seriously impairs the member’s earning capacity.

The Company and the Trustee’s medical advisors have confirmed that your current levels of anxiety and stress are temporary, due to your wife’s current illness.  The Trustee has taken a view on the degree of permanency of your condition and your ability to work and has taken a decision that you do not fulfil the incapacity requirement.

Although there is of course great sympathy for you and your wife’s position, the Trustee has decided not to pay a discretionary ill-health pension on this occasion.”

20. Mr Purvis made a complaint to the Trustee on 17 February 2004 under stage one of the IDRP.  Mr Purvis said:
20.1. The Trustee took the view that he did not fulfil the incapacity requirement in spite of the fact that not only his own GP, but also the two company doctors who examined him, stated that they considered his incapacity was such that they would support his case.  
20.2. The degree of permanency of his incapacity was dependent upon the medical condition of his wife which he said, at that time, had remained static for the last three years and showed no sign of either improving or worsening for the foreseeable future.  He saw no reason why that state of affairs could not last at least until normal retirement age and would therefore satisfy the conditions necessary for ill health early retirement.
20.3. He had requested copies of the three doctors’ letters to which he had been refused access and asked why he was not allowed to see them.

20.4. If the Trustee could not accept his original application for total incapacity they were asked to consider whether he fell into the partial incapacity category; this did not seem to have been already.
20.5. He asked why his application was delayed until the rule change of May 2003 became imminent.   His original application had been sent to the Employer on 19 March 2003 and he was given a retirement date of 30 April 2003 which meant his retirement would have taken place before the announcement on 1 May 2003. Had there not been a delay his application would not have been diluted in the resulting flood of new applications and he thinks would have had a more favourable outcome.
21. The Secretary acknowledged Mr Purvis’ complaint on 19 March 2004 and then wrote again on 10 May 2004 apologising that a decision had not been given within two months of his complaint.  The Secretary said that she would be asking each Trustee Director fully to consider Mr Purvis’ letter and the papers.  

22. Following a subsequent letter from TPAS whose assistance Mr Purvis had sought, the Secretary advised on 24 May 2004 that she was referring Mr Purvis’ complaint directly to stage two of the IDRP.  She said that the delay was due to the volume of priority work in the pensions department but that a file of papers would be passed to the Trustee Board that week for consideration under stage two of the IDRP.

23. The Pensions Administration Manager sent a memorandum to the Trustees dated May 2004 about Mr Purvis’ complaint.  Her memorandum included: 

“Background
Mr Purvis was a member of the contracted-out section of the Scheme (ex-Cegelec).  He applied for ill health early retirement in May 2003 and both Dr Allbright and Dr Fyans provided reports to the Trustee.  This was at the time that we were changing medical advisers.  Mr Purvis decided that he would take early retirement on normal terms (on the enhanced early retirement factors) if he did not succeed with his application for ill health.  Mr Purvis suffered from anxiety and depression as a result of having to cope with his wife’s illness (she has ovarian cancer).

The Benefits Committee made their decision to reject Mr Purvis’ application on 9 July 2003 and Mr Purvis was informed of this on 14 July 2003.  Mr Purvis complained and [the Secretary] confirmed to Mr Purvis that the Trustee would only reconsider his case if he could supply additional information on his illness and level of incapacity.  Mr Purvis did not forward any additional paperwork and he retired on 31 July 2003 on the old early retirement factors.

………………

Facts
· Mr Purvis had been examined by the Company doctor and there is no doubt that was suffering from lack of concentration at work and anxiety due to his wife’s condition.  However his own GP states that physically he enjoys good health and has no past medical history of note.

· The Courts have established that “permanent” may be taken as meaning likely to continue to normal retirement age and OPAS have clearly advised Mr Purvis of this point.  However, it is difficult as we do not know how long Mr Purvis’ condition will continue and Dr Fyans has stated that his incapacity is unlikely to be enduring and permanent.

………………

Two Trustees made the initial decision to reject the application.

………………”

24. On 9 June 2004, the Trustee sent Mr Purvis a copy of the Scheme’s medical advisor’s report but said that it was not able to send him a copy of his GP and specialists’ reports as they had been sent to the attention of the Trustee. The Trustee said that he would be able to request a copy direct from his GP or specialist.

25. The Trustee’s stage two IDRP decision was sent to Mr Purvis on 28 July 2004.  They apologised for the delay.   
26. The Trustee refuted Mr Purvis’ claim that he should be awarded a pension under the ill health rule, saying that having considered the available medical evidence and advice from the appointed medical adviser, the Trustee did not believe that Mr Purvis fulfilled the criteria for the award of an ill health pension under the contracted-out section of the Scheme.  Although sympathetic to Mr Purvis’ case, the Trustee was of the opinion that his medical condition does not fulfil the definition of “incapacity” in rule 3 of the Scheme Rules and therefore he could not be awarded a pension under the ill health rule.  
27. In relation to Mr Purvis’ request that the Trustee consider his situation under the partial incapacity in the main Alstom Pension Scheme rules, the Trustee said that those rules were not applicable to him as he is a member of the contracted out section and only those rules could be considered.
28. The Trustee refuted Mr Purvis’ claim that the decision not to award a pension under the ill health rules was influenced by other factors such as a flood of applications for early retirements.  The Trustee said it had not been able to consider Mr Purvis’ complaint until it had received all the necessary paperwork from Mr Purvis’s former employer.  The Trustee asserted that Mr Purvis’ case would have been given its full attention at all times and it had not been influenced by anything other than the facts of the case.

29. In response to a letter from TPAS, the Secretary to the Trustee stated:

29.1. The Trustee had legal advice to the effect that Mr Purvis should apply to the doctors personally for copies of the reports from Dr Fielding and Doctor Edgar under section 6(2) of the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988.  

29.2. The Trustee considered all of the evidence supplied with Mr Purvis’ application for ill health as well as the report from the Scheme’s medical advisers and letters sent by Mr Purvis to its pensions department.  The reports considered by the Trustee were the Scheme’s medical advisers’ reports, the reports of Dr Edgar and Dr Fielding, Mr Purvis’s absence records, his application form and his job description.

29.3. The Trustee did not contact Mr Purvis’ wife’s oncologist for information about his wife’s condition because it did not consider it appropriate as it was not directly going to give further evidence of Mr Purvis’ health.
29.4. The medical evidence which was available to the Employer and Trustee in relation to Mr Purvis’ state of health was not such as to lead them to form the opinion that Mr Purvis was suffering any physical or mental deterioration which met either of the two criteria.  It could not therefore be justified for them to agree to a pension from the Scheme on an ill health basis.  

29.5. The process that was in place for ill heath applications was completed and a committee of two trustees had considered the case and then the whole Trustee Board had considered the case and rejected the application.

29.6. As well as the Company and the Trustee being required to be satisfied as to the medical evidence supporting incapacity, the consent of both is also needed if early retirement is to be allowed on that basis.  Mr Purvis’ application did not get to that stage because the medical evidence was insufficient.

30. On 28 September 2004, Mr Purvis wrote to his new GP, Dr Marlow, and asked him to write to the Trustee asking them to reconsider his case based on information about his condition since applying for ill health early retirement.  Dr Marlow wrote to the Trustee on 28 October 2004.  Relevant extracts from Dr Marlow’s reports, and those of the medical advisers referred to below, are provided at Appendix 2.

31. On 22 October 2004, Mr Purvis wrote to Dr Edgar, the Company’s medical adviser, and also asked him to write to the Trustee asking them to reconsider his case.  Dr Edgar did so on 5 November 2004.  He then requested up to date medical reports from Dr Marlow and two of Mr Purvis’ consultants, Dr Bryan, a Consultant Urologist, and Dr Wong, a Consultant Colorectal & General Surgeon.  Those medical reports were received by Dr Edgar in December 2004 and January 2005, and on 2 February 2005, Dr Edgar wrote to the Trustee formally requesting Mr Purvis’ application for ill health early retirement be reconsidered.

32. The Trustee advised Mr Purvis on 3 March 2005, that its medical adviser, Dr Fyans, had considered the up to date medical reports provided by Dr Edgar and had requested that Mr Purvis attend an interview with a Consultant Psychiatrist.  Mr Purvis agreed to this.
33. Mr Purvis’ wife died on 10 May 2005.
34. Mr Purvis saw the Psychiatrist on 12 May 2005.  Dr Staley’s report dated 26 May 2005 was then sent to the Trustee.
35. Mr Purvis was advised on 6 June 2005 by the Trustee that Dr Staley’s report had been sent to Dr Fyans who would assess the report and make a recommendation for the Trustee if he had sufficient information.  Dr Fyans provided his report to the Trustee on 21 June 2005.
36. On 1 July 2005, the Pensions Administrator sent a memorandum to the two members of the Benefits Committee asking for a decision about Mr Purvis’ application, which stated that Dr Fyans had reviewed the psychiatrist’s report and stated that he could not recommend ill health early retirement on the grounds of Incapacity.

37. Both members of the Benefits Committee replied on 6 July 2005 agreeing to reject the application.  The email of one member of the Benefits Committee of 6 July 2005 to the Secretary included, 

“I’m not sure that Dr Fyans has considered the earning capacity element of the Cegelec rules, but since the member has retired and the consultant does not regard the situation as permanent the application for Incapacity benefits is rejected.”

38. On 12 July 2005, Mr Purvis was advised that the Trustee had reviewed the report of Dr Staley, together with previous medical evidence and a new report from Dr Fyans.  It said that the medical evidence presented to it did not support his application and it was therefore rejected.

39. Mr Purvis remained dissatisfied and complained to me.
SUBMISSIONS

40. Mr Purvis submits:
40.1. The ongoing psychological disturbance that he is experiencing means that his attention span is seriously curtailed and the stress levels which would be engendered by any form of responsibility would be intolerable.  His earning capacity would be seriously impaired because if he were to find employment it would be of the most menial type and therefore would attract only the minimum wage.  As he is currently undergoing occupational therapy, he would not be allowed to seek employment at this time.

40.2. The Trustee has acted, and is continuing to act, improperly in refusing him access to the medical report of Dr Diver, the Company Doctor’s locum when he was first interviewed on 1 April 2003.

40.3. The Trustee acted improperly in not insisting that he was seen in person by Dr Fyans and by not complying with the recommendation in Dr Fyans’ report of 22 June 2003 that his case would need reviewing in about six to 12 months.

40.4. He was only made aware of the existence of a medical report by Dr Albright when it was provided to me by the Trustee.  That report gives his expected date of retirement as 30 April 2003 which reinforces the fact that was his original leaving date agreed with the Trustee’s pensions department but that was subsequently changed to 31 July 2003 and it has acted improperly in not adhering to the original date.  
40.5. The Trustee acted improperly in not explaining the reasons it felt he did not satisfy the definition of total incapacity. 
40.6. The Trustee acted improperly in not acting upon the recommendations of Dr Staley that he be referred for Cognitive Behavioural Therapy and some other forms of psychoactive drug therapy.  He had to seek his own therapy through his GP and local health authority.
41. The Trustee submits:
41.1. Mr Purvis’ allegations are unfounded.
41.2. In relation to the first consideration of Mr Purvis’ application, the Benefits Committee considered the medical evidence provided by Dr Fyans, Dr Albright, Dr Edgar and Dr Fielding and decided to reject Mr Purvis’ application on the basis that his incapacity was unlikely to be enduring and permanent.  It was the opinion of the Company and Trustee’s medical advisors that the Applicant’s then levels of anxiety and stress were temporary due to his wife’s current illness and that Mr Purvis should be able to work at some stage in the future.  It could not therefore be said that Mr Purvis was prevented from following employment or, therefore, that his earning capacity was seriously impaired.

41.3. The letter to Mr Purvis of 14 July 2003 confirming that his application had been rejected on the basis of the medical evidence presented and if he had more medical evidence it should be sent to the Trustee for information.  The letter was brief, but it did give the member opportunity to provide further medical information or indeed ask for further information if that was required.

41.4. As part of the IDRP process, the Trustee considered the medical evidence which was available to the Company and the Trustee in relation to Mr Purvis’ state of health (the reports of Dr Fyans, Dr Albright, Dr Edgar and Dr Fielding) and decided that it was not such to lead them to form an opinion that Mr Purvis was suffering any physical or mental deterioration which met the criteria for incapacity.  This was because it could not therefore be said that Mr Purvis was prevented from following employment nor, therefore, that his earning capacity was seriously impaired.
41.5. In relation to the second consideration of Mr Purvis’ application, the Benefits Committee decided that with time and adequate treatment, Mr Purvis may be able to retain gainful employment.  It could not therefore be said that he was prevented from following employment nor, therefore, that his earning capacity was seriously impaired.

41.6. A copy of Dr Albright’s report should have been sent to Mr Purvis but that due to the change in medical advisers, Mr Purvis was only sent Dr Fyans’ report on 9 June 2004 instead of both that one and Dr Albright’s.  The Trustee apologises for that and says that it was a genuine mistake.

41.7. Dr Albright recommended in her report that total incapacity benefits be given to Mr Purvis and then ill health retirement be reviewed after his wife’s death.  The review did not take place because the Trustee did not grant ill health retirement to Mr Purvis.

41.8. The six to 12 month review referred to by Dr Fyans’ was to have taken place if ill health benefits were granted by the Trustee, but they were not granted.  The Benefits Committee would have taken Dr Fyans’ statement that he had not felt it necessary to examine Mr Purvis into consideration in reaching a decision and would have requested further medical evidence if they had felt it necessary.

41.9. The medical evidence it received did not include a report from Dr Diver and therefore that could not be considered by it.
41.10. The Trustee’s pensions department did not receive Mr Purvis’ ill health application until 23 May 2003; therefore, it is incorrect for Mr Purvis to suggest the Trustee delayed his application until after the change in the early retirement factors.

41.11. When considering the definition of incapacity in the Scheme Rules, the Trustee considers the definition in its two parts:

· Incapacity that prevents a Member from following employment; and
· Incapacity which seriously impairs his earning capacity.

41.12. The Trustee considers that the first part of the definition is not limited to the member’s own occupation; it is defined as any occupation.  Consideration would therefore be given to whether the member may be incapable of doing his own occupation, but still capable of doing another occupation.  If this were the case, the application for ill health would be rejected under the first part of the definition.

41.13. The second part of the definition would then be considered, and in this respect, a member who could carry out another occupation other than his own, could qualify for ill health if his earnings capacity was impaired.

41.14. The Trustee notes and accepts the concern that the above points were not broken down in its component parts when it was considering Mr Purvis’ application.  At the time this was because the Trustee did not feel that the underlying definition to award ill health had been fulfilled.

41.15. The understanding of the Trustee is that underlying the definition of incapacity in the Scheme Rules is a requirement by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs that the reason for incapacity must be for a period that is other than temporary, though not necessarily permanent.

41.16. There is no reference to “permanency” in the definition of incapacity in the Scheme Rules.  The reason the Trustee rejected Mr Purvis’ application is because it did not consider his condition to be other than temporary.  In a letter to Mr Purvis of 21 October 2003, the Secretary explained why his application had been rejected.
41.17. The above was indicated by Dr Fyans in his report to the Trustee dated 22 June 2003 in which he said that if the Trustee did want to grant incapacity, that incapacity “will probably (be) limited in time and need reviewing after a specified date (say 6 to 12 months)”.
41.18. The Trustee did not feel that Mr Purvis’ condition was other than temporary and that this was linked to his wife’s illness and that he would possibly be able to work in the future.  In her report of 11 June 2003, Dr Albright indicated that, saying that total incapacity to be reviewed a few months after his wife’s death.

41.19. The Trustee’s understanding is that under the Scheme Rules they cannot set conditions in granting ill health, for example, requesting applicants to receive certain types of treatment as part of the conditions for awarding an ill health pension.  However, the Trustee consider it is reasonable to take into account when considering the incapacitating effects of a condition, the effects standard treatments would have on the applicant and whether this meant the condition would be for longer than a temporary period of time.

CONCLUSIONS

42. Rule 13.3 of the Scheme Rules provides that with the consent of the Principal Company and the Trustee, a member may retire on pension at any age if retirement is due to incapacity.  Therefore, the member not only needs to meet the criteria of incapacity as set out in the Scheme Rules, but both the Principal Company and the Trustee must consent to his retirement.  The issue of consent has not yet been considered because it was concluded that Mr Purvis did not meet the test of incapacity.

43. Incapacity is defined in the Scheme Rules as any physical or mental deterioration which in the opinion of the Principal Company and of the Trustees and supported by suitable medical evidence prevents a Member from following employment or which seriously impairs his earning capacity.  In providing any opinion as to incapacity, and deciding whether to give its consent, the Principal Company will be bound by the Employer’s implied duty of good faith towards it employees. 
44. The definition of incapacity does not specifically mention a need for the member's condition to be permanent.  However, case law has established that, in the absence of provision to the contrary, an implied requirement for permanence may be read into the Rules (Harris v Lord Shuttleworth [1994] PLR 47). In these circumstances, permanence is taken to mean that the member's incapacity is likely to last at least until his normal retirement age. 

45. For Mr Purvis to have met the definition of incapacity he needed either to have suffered from physical or mental deterioration such that he was prevented from following employment or that his earning capacity be severely impaired.  Earning capacity may be impaired even if someone is able to follow employment. 
46. In making its decision about whether Mr Purvis met the definition of incapacity in the Scheme Rules, on both occasions the Benefits Committee clearly considered whether Mr Purvis was prevented from following employment.  But it is much less clear whether consideration was given as to whether Mr Purvis’ earning capacity was seriously impaired by his state of health.  The contemporaneous documentation gives no indication that the Benefits Committee considered that aspect; indeed one member specifically observed that this was not an aspect that had been covered.
47. I have noted the Trustee’s later submission that when Mr Purvis’ application was considered by the Benefits Committee and again when his complaint was considered by the Trustee at stage two of the IDRP, having considered the medical evidence, 
“it could not therefore be said that Mr Purvis was prevented from following employment or, therefore, that his earning capacity was seriously impaired”.
The use of the word “therefore” strongly indicates that the Trustee and its membership misdirected themselves. It does not follow that because Mr Purvis was judged able to follow some employment (or more accurately that it was thought he might be able to do so at some future time) that his earnings capacity was not severely impaired. That would depend on what kind of job Mr Purvis could perform and also perhaps on whether he could do so without regular absences through sickness which might affect his earnings capacity.  
48. However, the Trustee also says that it did not break the definition of incapacity into its component parts when it was considering Mr Purvis’ application because it did not feel that his condition was other than temporary as it was linked to his wife’s illness and that he would possibly be able to work in the future.   I see nothing wrong with the Trustee’s view that there was indeed a possibility of his working in the period before his normal retirement age.  But that is not the same as saying that such work would not involve severe impairment of his earning capacity.  The evidence before me gives no indication that this aspect was properly considered.
49. Mr Purvis also complained that he has not been provided with copies of letters from some of the medical advisers that as he requested.  Since his application to me, he has been provided with copies of all the medical evidence he requested, except that of Dr Diver, who was the Company Doctor’s locum who first interviewed Mr Purvis on 1 April 2003.  Mr Purvis says that he has been refused access to Dr Diver’s medical report.  The Trustee says that the medical evidence it received did not include a report from Dr Diver and therefore was considered by it.  I have no reason to doubt the veracity of the Trustee’s statement.  The Trustee cannot be held responsible for failing to provide a copy to Mr Purvis of any such report of Dr Diver that may be in existence if it has never been provided with that report.

DIRECTIONS

50. Within 56 days of this determination, Mr Purvis’s application for ill health early retirement shall be considered in accordance with rule 13(3) of the Scheme Rules and Mr Purvis shall be notified of the decision. If the decision is that such a pension should be paid it shall be backdated to 11 July 2003 and interest should be paid to Mr Purvis, calculated on a daily basis at the Standard rate used by the reference banks in respect of the periods between when payments would have been made had the pension so been put into payment and the time when payment is actually made.  

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

18 July 2007

APPENDIX 1
1. Mr Purvis’ GP, Dr W Fielding, provided a report to Dr Edgar, the Employer’s Medical Adviser, on 15 April 2003 which stated:

“… Mr Purvis has been a patient of mine since May 1991 and has been registered with the practice since 1971.  Physically he enjoys good health and has no relevant past medical history of note.  He is on no regular medication.

Unfortunately Mr Purvis’s wife was diagnosed with cancer of the ovary in March 2001 and since then she has been undergoing regular treatment with frequent courses of chemotherapy.  Mr Purvis cares for her and as her condition has deteriorated so the stress of holding down a full time job and looking after his wife has begun to take its toll.  He first approached me in March 2002 when he was finding it very difficult to work during the weeks when his wife had her chemotherapy, as at this time she was quite ill and needed more care.  Thus over the past year he has had a number of certified absences form work caused by the stress and anxiety of looking after his wife.

The overall situation has gradually deteriorated and he has referred to the psychologist attached to the oncology unit at Walsgrave Hospital in mid February.

Currently he is finding it impossible to fulfil the obligations to his employer and look after his wife and has therefore decided to apply for early retirement on the grounds of ill health ie the stress related to looking after his wife who is being treated for cancer.  I would support him in this application.”

2. Dr Edgar provided a report to the Trustee on 23 May 2003 which stated:

“I saw Mr Purvis on the 20th May 2003 on receipt of a medical report from his GP, Dr W Fielding, which I have copied to you.

He has had extensive time off work because of his wife’s illness, and he is presently off sick with a diagnosis of anxiety and stress related to his wife’s illness.

He has given me permission to note that his wife has a diagnosis of cancer of the ovary and she is just completing further chemotherapy.  He describes quite marked anxiety symptoms affecting his gut and his heart.  He has a complete lack of concentration on his work, and the focus of his attention is understandably his wife.  His sleep is disturbed due to having to attend to his wife through the night.  He is undertaking ongoing counselling with an Oncology Counsellor from the Radiotherapy Unit at Coventry.

I have not carried out a physical examination at this stage.  There seems to be little likelihood of any improvement in the short to medium term and I feel that on humane grounds we should try to expedite the consideration of his retirement on ill health grounds.  I support his application on the grounds of an ongoing anxiety disorder.”

3. Dr E J Albright provided a report to the Trustee on 11 June 2003.  The report made reference to Mr Purvis’ expected date of retirement as being 30 April 2003.  Dr Albright’s report stated:

“1. Non-technical Description of Condition:

Mr Purvis’s wife is dying tragically slowly from cancer of the ovary and undergoing repeated courses of chemotherapy.  He is caring for her and finding the situation extremely distressing and stressful.

2. Prognosis indicating if medical review process is unnecessary:

Sad to say, Mr Purvis’s wife will eventually die of her disease.  He is now 55 years old and therefore will still be young enough to seek employment when he has recovered from his bereavement.

3. Practical impact on member’s ability to carry out his/her normal duties:

At present his distress and anxiety will prevent him concentrating and much of the time he is needed at home to care for his wife after her treatment.

4. Ability to carry out an alternative occupation:

None at present.

5. Is expectation of life less than one year?

No

6. Recommendation:

Total incapacity to be reviewed a few months after his wife’s death.”

4. Dr P Fyans provided a report to the Trustee on 22 June 2003 which stated:

“It is indeed a sad and difficult situation for Mr Purvis, creating great stress for him coping with his wife’s serious illness I note that he is receiving counselling and has had a considerable time off work because of psychological problems.

However, I feel that his incapacity is unlikely to be enduring and permanent.  Indeed, he may well recover to an extent that work is a possibility.  Should his wife’s condition deteriorate terminally, he may well be able to work at some point in the future.

The only circumstance that seems to apply in this case is paragraph 13.5 (section IV) of the Cegelec Trust Deed, whereby the member could be considered for early retirement due to incapacity that will probably [be] limited in time and need reviewing after a specified date (say 6 to 12 months).

I do not feel it is necessary to examine the patient.”

APPENDIX 2
1. A report from Dr Marlow was sent to the Trustee on 28 October 2004.  It stated:

“I first met Mr Purvis in November 2003 and he has been on several occasions since.  His main problems since July 2003 have been:

1. benign prostatic hypertrophy – Mr Purvis has to get up to pass urine up to 4 times a night and every one to one and a half hours during the day.  He finds it difficult to sit in a car for a prolonged period.

2. Right sided abdominal pains which have been attributed to hyperplasia of the ileo-caecal valve.

3. Low back pains which are probably caused by caring for his wife who is unwell with cancer.

4. Anxiety – this is Mr Purvis’ predominate problem.  He is in a chronic anxiety state, some of which may be caused by the worry of the on-going illness of his wife.  He has appeared very agitated on the several occasions that I have met him.

In view of his physical and mental problems Mr Purvis feels unable to return to work and would like his case to be re-considered.  I would support him in this application.

2. Dr Edgar wrote to the Trustee on 5 November 2004 and stated,

“I am writing following the receipt of a letter dated the 22nd October 2004 from Iain Purvis concerning the decision to reject his application for early retirement on the grounds of ill-health.  In this detailed letter he outlines the changes to his medical condition since the decision was made.

On Mr Purvis’ behalf, I would like to formally request a review of the decision.  I would suggest that we obtain an updated report from the GP in his practice who can give us the best account of his present medical condition.

If there was not to be a review of the decision, I think the grounds for non-review should be carefully explained to both Mr Purvis and myself.”

3. A report of Dr N Bryan, Consultant Urologist, was sent to Dr Edgar on 14 December 2004.  It stated:

“Mr Purvis first attended in 1995 under Mr Prasad for lower urinary tract symptoms leading to acute urinary retention.  He subsequently had a successful trial without catheter and was voiding urine spontaneously.  His symptoms have continued to deteriorate until his most recent attendance in October 04.  During investigations he has been found to have a congenital absence of his right kidney but investigations of his bladder have found no intravesical abnormality.

Mr Purvis’ lower urinary tract symptoms have deteriorated to such an extent that his maximum flow is considerably reduced to 7.6 ml/s and is leaving relatively significant post micturition residual urine.  He is on maximal medical therapy for this and this will hopefully improve things.  He is taking Proscar mg od and Tamsulosin 400 mcg od.  I strongly suspect that this will not improve his symptoms enough and he is going to need a transurethral resection of his prostate subsequent to the next review.

In summary, Mr Purvis is having ongoing treatment for his lower urinary tract symptoms, which MAY result in surgery and is undoubtedly causing considerable inconvenience.  However I think it is unlikely to be stopping him doing his daily activities.”

4. Dr Marlow provided a further report to Dr Edgar on 4 January 2005.  It stated:

“I first saw Mr Purvis on the 1st November 2003 and have seen him on several occasions subsequently.  Mr Purvis’s main problem is that of a chronic anxiety state.  This appears to be caused by the worry and stress of the on-going illness of his wife who was diagnosed with cancer of the ovary in March 2001.  It is difficult for me to comment on whether this anxiety state has changed since his original application as I did not know him before this.  He certainly has appeared very agitated on each occasion he has consulted me at the surgery.

Mr Purvis has also complained of a number of other physical problems over the last year.  He has been seeing Mr Willis with benign prostatic hypertrophy and is on medication to help control this (Tamsulosin 400 micrograms once a day and Finasteride 5 mgs once a day).  He still has to get up a few times at night and has urinary frequency in the day.  He finds it difficult to sit in a car for any prolonged period due to pressure on his bladder.  Mr Purvis has also been suffering with right sided abdominal pains which are a long term problem and have been attributed to hypoplasia of the ileocaecal valve.  He has also complained of lower back pains which I have attributed to the physical side of caring for his wife.

Mr Purvis takes the medication as above and is on no other medication.  In terms of the prognosis of his chronic anxiety state I would not expect this to improve in the foreseeable future, at least while his wife remains unwell and dependent on him.  I would support Mr Purvis in his application.”

5. A report from  Dr L Wong, Consultant Colorectal & General Surgeon, was sent to Dr Edgar on 13 January 2005.  Dr Wong said that Mr Purvis was under his care in 2001 and provided the following report:

“He presented to me with flank pain and constipation.  He did not complain of any change in bowel habit or PR bleeding.  However, he had lost some weight prior to seeing me.

Examination showed some tenderness in the right lower abdomen at that time, and we carried out quite extensive investigations, including a barium enema and colonoscopy.  These tests showed a prominent ileocaecal valve, with no evidence of malignancy.  We also carried out an IVP, which suggested a small or congenitally absent right kidney.  He was subsequently referred to Dr Apakama for future follow up of the absent right kidney.  As you know, he has also had a problem with nocturia.

As you can appreciate, with his application for early retirement with the Company on new health grounds, it is going to be very difficult for me to give you any guidance.  When he saw me in 2001 he was in quite severe discomfort, and the pain was severe enough for us to carry out 2 colonoscopies, 1 barium enema and 1 IVP.  I believe he did have genuine symptoms, but his pain is not related to gastrointestinal disease or pathology.”

6. Dr Edgar wrote to the Trustee on 2 February 2005 and said that he had obtained further medical reports and he stated,

“It is clear to me that Mr Purvis has an intractable mental health problem, plus physical symptoms which have been fully investigated and are in turn attributed to his mental health problem.  

It seems highly unlikely that Mr Purvis will recover and be able to return to work.

I would therefore formally request that the Pension Trust reconsider their decision on Mr Purvis’ early retirement on the grounds of ill health.”

7. A report from Dr P G Fyans was sent to the Trustee on 13 February 2005.  After saying that he had been provided with information from Dr Marlow and Dr Edgar, he stated:

“The evidence from the urologist relating to prostatic hypertrophy (benign enlargement of the prostrate causing urinary symptoms) would not, in itself, qualify for IHR as it can be treated.

The abdominal pain has been attributed to a benign condition of muscular enlargement at the junction of the small and large bowels.  This is, in itself, not a reason for IHR as there are treatment options.  

The main reason for Mr Purvis’s continuing poor health is anxiety, which now appears chronic, and secondary to looking after his unwell wife.  It is possible that the effects of his wife’s illness have caused an irrecoverable psychological breakdown and adjustment disorder (with various physical symptoms).  In my view, this situation can only be resolved with an interview by a Consultant Psychiatrist who would be in a favourable position to give a prognosis as whether a permanent incapacity has developed, which is, of course, critical decision with regard to his entitlement to an enhanced pension.

Perhaps you might consider a referral to a local psychiatrist, asking his opinion with regard to the likelihood of permanent mental incapacity, either total or partial.”
8. This led to a report from a psychiatrist, Dr Staley’s dated 26 May 2005 which included: :

“3. In order to assist me in the preparation of this report I have read the following documentation: - 
· Letter of Dr P G Fyans dated 13 February 2005 
· Report of Dr J Marlow, General Practitioner dated 4 January 2005 and letter dated 
· Letter from Mr L Wong, Consultant Colorectal and General Surgeon dated 13 January 2005 
· Letter from Mr N Bryan, Consultant Urologist dated 14 December 2004 
· I have not had access to Mr Purvis’ General Practice notes or Hospital notes. 
4. I interviewed Mr Purvis at St Andrew’s Hospital on the evening of 12 May 2005. My interview with him lasted nearly two hours. The timing of this meeting was unfortunate in that it occurred only two days following the death of Mrs Purvis. Despite this, Mr Purvis was able to give a clear and coherent history. 
……………... 

Opinion 
41. As previously stated it is in an area outside of my expertise but I would generally agree that the benign prostatic hypertrophy and the ileocaecal valve hypertrophy are not conditions that would warrant ill health retirement as both, as I understand it, could be rectified by operation if necessary. 
42. From a psychiatric perspective Mr Purvis does not easily fall into a clear diagnostic category. He presents with elements of generalised anxiety disorder, panic disorder and there may be some features of adjustment disorder. The whole picture being further complicated by his very recent bereavement. However, it would appear to me that his anxiety in the first instance was largely associated with his urinary problems particularly when associated with having to travel, although it also became associated with meetings and working to deadlines. I believe Mr Purvis’ level of anxiety understandably increased in the context of his wife’s illness and her gradual decline. 
43. My understanding is that Mr Purvis has not sought or been offered specific treatment to alleviate his anxiety apart from being on one form of medication which did not particularly suit him for about six weeks. He has not been tried on other forms of medication that could potentially relieve his anxiety. Neither has he been referred for cognitive behaviour therapy, which is likely to have had a significant beneficial effect. He has not been operated on for the BPH, which in itself could significantly reduce his anxiety in regard to travel and finding lavatories. 
44. Given that Mr Purvis’ anxiety disorder has not been treated I think it is impossible to come to the conclusion that it is a permanently disabling condition. 
45. Although I am deeply sympathetic to Mr Purvis’ situation, especially in regard to his very recent bereavement, I do not see that it is possible to support ill health retirement.”

9. Dr Fyans’ report was sent to the Trustee on 21 June 2005.  Dr Fyans stated:

“Thank you for arranging for this member to [see] a psychiatrist.  It is clear from the report that Mr Purvis has never received treatment for his anxiety, other than unsuccessful tablets from the GP, and has not been under the care of the local psychiatric services.  The situation is regrettably very complicated now with the recent demise of his wife; her prolonged illness was obviously an exacerbating factor in symptoms experienced by Mr Purvis.

In this sad setting, however, it is not possible for me to recommend total incapacity benefits for this member, as I think with time and adequate treatment, he may well be able to perform gainful employment.  Whether he would wish to work in the future, is a different matter.”
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